












REEF APARTMENT-HOTEL 

1409-1411 WASHINGTON AVENUE, MIAMI BEACH 

 

 This three-story building in classic Art Deco style was built in 1935 in the 

heart of Miami Beach’s developing commercial district. A restaurant occupied the 

entire ground floor, and furnished apartments and hotel rooms were on the upper 

floors. The building cost $36,000 and its architect was Victor H. Nellenbogen, 

misspelled on the Permit Card (see Biography following). It is now a Contributing 

structure in both the National Register and local historic districts. 

 

 The building permit was issued on November 6, 1935, and the building was 

ready for occupancy on January 15, 1936. Owner and operator was Jack P. 

Broome, who ran a “curbside” eatery with live music at 1108 Biscayne Boulevard 

in Miami that was also called The Reef.1 The restaurant in this Miami Beach 

building was called “Chicken Jack’s,” specializing in chicken, steak, and Florida 

lobster. To announce its opening on January 24, 1936, airplanes dropped 10,000 

advertising balloons over the Miami area. 

 

 The building at its opening received an extensive writeup in the Miami 

Herald2 that includes a rendering, interior photographs of an apartment and the 

restaurant, and a photo of Mr. Broome and his maitre d’, George Bozarth. In 

addition, original plans, though of limited legibility, were found on Microfilm 

#7542 in the Miami Beach Building Department. 

 

 This building is now a historic gem, but when it was new the Herald hailed 

it as “the latest type modern architecture.” Typical of Art Deco, the front façade is 

symmetrical and divided into three sections: vertical ribs define the center section, 

ornamented with bas relief panels, and the side sections have horizontal lines 

                                                 
1 “Chicken Jack’s, New Restaurant in Miami Beach, Opens Service,” Miami Herald, Jan. 24, 1936. 
2 “Apartment Hotel Near Completion,” Jan. 7, 1936; “Chicken Jack’s…” and “New Restaurant 

Presents Attractive Scene,” Jan. 24, 1936. 



incised in the stucco and wrapping around the corners. There are also corner 

windows that were originally steel casements3 but were replaced with aluminum 

awning-type windows in 1963.4 Dentil molding decorates the parapet. 

 

 The building’s most notable feature is the stainless steel marquee that 

extends across almost the entire front at the first story. (Nellenbogen designed a 

similar marquee on the Savoy Plaza Hotel, 425 Ocean Drive, also in 1935.) This 

was the grand entrance to the restaurant, “illuminated by neon tubing in colors.”5 

Beneath the marquee, the front façade of the restaurant had glass-paneled double 

doors at the center, with horizontal push-bars. To either side of the door was a 

round-ended swath of windows described in the newspaper as a novel feature: 

“disappearing windows for ventilation, giving the impression of a continental 

sidewalk café.” While it is unclear what “disappearing” windows were, the plans 

show the front windows ---two on each side – in three horizontal panels. These 

may be three sashes that could be pushed together, or they may have folded up so 

as to “disappear.” 

 

 The newspaper also documents that the first story was faced in “green and 

walnut colored vitrolite, contrasting against aluminite (sic) metal-covered sash 

doors and frames,” and “two columns of illuminated structural glass adorn each 

side of the entrance.” The plans show a window opening into the restaurant on the 

north elevation, since the building next door at the time had a large setback. 

 

 In addition to signage on the marquee, the rendering and the plans both 

show a fin sign at the parapet, and the newspaper describes another novel 

feature: “on the top of the building is a large electrical sign featuring an animated 

rooster design in multicolors….The animated “rooster” crows periodically.” The 

                                                 
3 Miami Herald, Jan. 7, 1936. 
4 Building Permit Card #1259. 
5 Miami Herald, Jan. 7, 1936. 



Permit Card notes that the neon lights were “reconnected” in November 1945, at 

the end of the World War II and its blackouts. 

 

 The rooster motif was continued on the interior of Chicken Jack’s, in a large 

five-color medallion of a rooster in the terrazzo floor at the entrance, the “pattern 

as selected by owner,” according to the plans.. It still survives, although the $5 

gold piece that was “securely anchored” as the eye6 has long ago disappeared. 

 

 The restaurant accommodated 164 diners and was described as a “dining 

patio.” Centered at the rear wall was a U-shaped stainless steel counter “where 

quick service may be had.” There was seating in upholstered booths to both sides 

of the counter, and the front section was filled with free-standing tables, as seen 

in the newspaper photograph. Plain, hanging light fixtures are also seen in the 

photo. Chicken Jack’s was only here for a year, however. By the end of 1936 it 

had become “Goldhagen’s Roumanian Restaurant,” according to the Permit Card, 

and later the Frank Romano Restaurant (1940-42 City Directories) and Roma 

Restaurant, but the rooster still remained on the floor. 

 

 Above the restaurant, the twelve-unit Reef Apartment Hotel was accessed 

through a door to the right of the restaurant that led to a stairway. A detail of the 

decorative stair railing is in the plans. The Reef consisted of four efficiency 

apartments, four one-bedroom units and four hotel rooms, all “fitted in the 

modern manner. Furniture harmonizes with the modern construction,”7 and the 

apartment kitchens had electric refrigerators. 

 

 ---Carolyn Klepser, researcher   

Dec. 6, 2015  

 

                                                 
6 “Chicken Jack’s…” Miami Herald, Jan. 24, 1936, p. 15A. 
7 “New Hotel Houses Unique Restaurant,” Miami Herald, Jan. 24, 1936, p. 15A. 



ARCHITECT BIOGRAPHY 

Victor H. Nellenbogen (1888-1959), born in Budapest, immigrated to the U.S. at 

age two, received a diploma from the Cooper Union in New York City in 1908, and 

in his early career (1911) designed hotels for the Canadian Pacific Railway. In 

1914 he was working as a draftsman for Thomas Lamb in New York.8 He came to 

Miami around 1920 to work with Martin L. Hampton and August Geiger, and 

opened a private practice here in 1928.9  He took a sketching trip to Spain with 

Martin Hampton in 1923 to study the architecture. He is one of Miami’s best 

transitional architects, who designed notable works in both Mediterranean and 

Art Deco styles.  Some of his best-known buildings in Miami Beach are: 

  Bowman Hotel (Shep Davis Plaza) 220 23rd Street 
Alamac Hotel    1300 Collins Ave. 

  Savoy Plaza     425 Ocean Drive 
Rivoli Apts. (Banana Republic)  800 Collins Ave. 

  Lord Tarleton Hotel (Crown Apts.) 4041 Collins Ave. 

  Olsen Hotel     7300 Ocean Terrace 
  Sterling Bldg. remodeling, 1941 927 Lincoln Road 

 

 

                                                 
8 1914 Draft Records, ancestry.com  
9 AIA records, Coral Gables and Washington DC; and obituary, Miami Herald, Nov. 16 1959. 
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January 7, 2016 
 
Building Official 
City of Miami Beach 
1700 Convention Center Dr. 
Miami Beach, Florida 33139 
 
 
RE:  Bohemian Hotel  

1409 Washington Ave 
 Miami Beach, Florida 33139 
 Demolition, Renovation, and bracing of the existing building 
 
Dear Official: 
 
We have inspected the building at the above mentioned address, the purpose of the 
inspection is to assess the structural condition of the building, the inspection was visual in 
nature. The building was built in 1935, and is a three story structure. Currently, it consists of 
two floors of residential units over retail space on the ground floor. There is an accessory 
structure on the East portion of the property. The Ground floor is a concrete slab on grade, 
the second floor is a combination of steel and wood construction. The third floor, and roof 
are wood joist construction. The exterior walls are masonry walls with tie beams and 
columns. The stairs are concrete cast in place construction. 
 
The development plans call for the addition of a fourth floor and rooftop pool and extending 
the building to the east portion of the property. The building CMU walls and wood framing 
are in good condition. There are steel round columns and concrete encased steel beams 
framing the ground floor ceiling. Moreover, structural strengthening will be required during 
construction for the new floor and rooftop pool.  
 
The following is the bracing procedure to support the building for the construction phase 
of the project development 
 

1. Strip and remove all existing non-structural wall and ceiling finishes (stucco, 
plaster, drywall, etc.) to expose all masonry walls, concrete tie beams and tie 
column and Ground, second, and third Floors wood rafters/joists. 

 
2. Inspect all existing exposed concrete tie beams and columns. Any damaged concrete 

(cracking, spalling, etc.) and rusted reinforcing bars - will be repaired or replaced, so 
as to restore the elements to their original design strength and capacity. 

 
3. The Second, third floor and roof joists wills be shored by using Heavy Duty post 

shores between floors. 
 

4. Since the development plans call for preserving the West portion of the building’s 
floors and walls, and the fact that the second floor framing is steel beams encased in 
concrete supported by steel columns, the building can be braced by connecting the 
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East portion of the North and South walls with steel beams and corner braces at the 
second, third, and roof levels 

 
5. Existing exterior masonry walls will be reinforced using vertical #5 rebars 

(continuous from the footing to the roof beams) spaced at 24" o.c., placed in 
grout/concrete filled block cells. This reinforcement will significantly add to the load 
capacity of the existing old masonry walls (to resist downward loads and lateral 
wind). New rooms partition walls will be designed as shearwalls so the existing 
building and the new addition will work as a combined structural system so the 
whole structure will comply with the current requirements of the Florida Building 
Code, High velocity Hurricane Zone (HVHZ). 

 
6. All wood elements in the building being floor joists or interior stud walls will be 

repaired based on the extent of damage of those elements. 
 

7. The exterior walls, interior stud walls, and foundations will be strengthened to carry 
the additional load from the proposed floor addition through the installation of steel 
columns in the wall partitions.  

 
 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact us at 305-969-9423 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Youssef Hachem, PhD, P.E. 
FL. P.E. 43302 
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